
Argyll and Bute Council
Comhairle Earra-Ghàidheal Agus Bhòid

Customer  Services
Executive Director:  Douglas Hendry

Kilmory, Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT
Tel:  01546 602127  Fax:  01546 604435

DX 599700 LOCHGILPHEAD
29 November 2016

NOTICE OF MEETING

A joint meeting of the ARGYLL AND BUTE LICENSING BOARD and LOCAL LICENSING 
FORUM will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBERS, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on TUESDAY, 
6 DECEMBER 2016 at 10:30 AM, which you are requested to attend.

Douglas Hendry
Executive Director of Customer Services

BUSINESS

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2. MINUTES 

(a) Local Licensing Forum (Pages 1 - 4)

Minutes of the Local Licensing Forum as held on Tuesday 9 February 2016.
(b) Joint Licensing Board and Local Licensing Forum (Pages 5 - 8)

Minutes of the Joint Meeting of the Argyll and Bute Licensing Board and Argyll and 
Bute Local Licensing Forum held on Wednesday 9 December 2015.

3. NOTE OF MEETING (Pages 9 - 10)
Note of Inquorate meeting of the Local Licensing Forum on 8 November 2016

4. ALCOHOL LICENSING IN YOUR COMMUNITY - HOW  YOU CAN GET INVOLVED 
(Pages 11 - 38)
Toolkit Resource published by Alcohol Focus Scotland

5. REVIEWING AND EXTENDING SCOPE OF LOCAL LICENSING FORUM 
MEMBERSHIP 

(a) Copy of Report submitted to the Council Meeting on 21 April 2016 with Extract of 
Minute (Pages 39 - 44)



(b) Note on possible methods of attracting new Members (Pages 45 - 46)

6. VERBAL REPORT BY THE CHAIR 

7. FUTURE MEETING DATES 

Licensing Board and Local Licensing Forum

Kenneth Harrison (Health Representative) CHAIR LLF       Councillor Rory Colville (CHAIR LB)
Councillor Alex McNaughton (VICE-CHAIR LB)                  Councillor Sandy Taylor
Councillor Gordon Blair                                                        Councillor Robin Currie
Councillor Richard Trail                                                        Councillor Roddy McCuish
Sergeant Lana Stewart (Police Scotland)                            J Russell Buchanan (Ex-Licensee)                                      
Martin Donovan (Licensed Trade)                                        Tim Saul (Licensed Trade)                                                   
Fred Bruce (Community Rep.)                                             Sheila Johnston (Community Rep.)                     
Raymond Boyle (Community  Rep.)                                     Iain J MacNaughton (Community Rep.)                                                                    
Roanna Clark (Young Scot)                                                                                    
Eric Dearie (Licensing Standards Officer)                               

Contact: Adele Price-Williams Tel: 01546 604480 



MINUTES of MEETING of LOCAL LICENSING FORUM held in the COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 
KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on TUESDAY, 9 FEBRUARY 2016 

Present: Kenny Harrison (Chair)

Sergeant Angela Walker, Police Scotland
J Russell Buchanan, Ex-Licensee
Raymond Boyle, Community Representative
Craig McNally, NHS
Eric Dearie, Licensing Standards Officer 

Attending: Councillor Rory Colville
Heather Murray, Police Scotland
Susan Mair, Legal Manager, Customer Services

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were intimated on behalf of Martin Donovan, Tim Saul, Fred 
Bruce, Sheila Johnston, Iain J MacNaughton and Martin Turnbull.

It was noted that the meeting was inquorate however the Chair received agreement 
from the Local Licensing Forum to continue with the meeting.  

The Forum agreed that all decisions would be homologated at the next quorate 
meeting of the Local Licensing Forum.

2. MINUTES 

The Minutes of the meeting of the Local Licensing Forum held on 1 October 2015 
were approved as a correct record.

3. THE ANNUAL REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 2015 

Craig McNally, Senior Health Improvement Specialist (Drugs & Alcohol), NHS, gave 
a presentation on the Department of Public Health Annual Report – Alcohol.

The presentation covered:

 Taking a balanced approach;
 Good and bad news (epidemiology);
 Recommendations;
 Challenging culture in the family; and
 Some local initiatives.

He provided some local and European wide statistical information in relation to 
excess alcohol consumption and related health problems. 

It was pointed out that due to the recommended amount of alcoholic units for 
consumption per week having been reduced in 2016 the figures shown in the report 
relating to the effects of alcohol for men were likely to increase. 



In conclusion he stated that a partnership approach to dealing with alcohol related 
health issues was required.

Members then went on to discuss possible initiatives which would help to highlight 
the health risks relating to alcohol consumption, and recognised that there would 
also have to be a cultural change in drinking habits.

The Local Licensing Forum (LLF) thanked Craig McNally for his presentation.

Decision

Members agreed to request that NHS Highland include Argyll and Bute Council 
Local Licensing Forum as members of any working group set up and tasked to take 
the recommendations in the report forward.

4. REVIEW OF MEMBERSHIP OF LOCAL LICENSING FORUM 

Susan Mair, Legal Manager referred to the report by the Executive Director – 
Customer Services which had been approved by Council in May 2012.

It was pointed out that since that date, membership of the Local Licensing Forum 
(LLF) had changed considerably, and attendance levels at meetings had continued 
to decline.  It was noted however, that attendance levels increased when important 
topics requiring an input or action from the LLF had arisen.

Members discussed the potential future composition of the LLF, and methods to 
attract membership from a variety of organisations and businesses representative of 
the Argyll and Bute Council area.   It was noted that it was set out in statute that the 
Forum could have a maximum number of 21 members. 

Decision

Members agreed that a report be submitted to the next meeting of the Council on 
21 April 2016 outlining a review of the recruitment to and membership of the Local 
Licensing Forum.

5. FUTURE OF LOCAL LICENSING FORUM 

The Chair of the Local Licensing Forum (LLF) explained that he had been exploring 
opportunities to create better links between Scottish Local Licensing Forums and the 
Scottish Government.  

He had been also been made aware of instances where the Argyll and Bute Council 
LLF had not been notified or consulted by the Scottish Government on particularly 
relevant topics of interest.

It was suggested that following a review of the membership of the Forum that there 
may be the opportunity to focus on particular issues, and an opportunity given to 
invite presentations from various organisations on these.

 



Decision

Members noted the position and agreed that the Chair continue to discuss the 
potential for the framework of a National Licensing Forum with other Scottish Local 
Licensing Forums.

6. UPDATE FROM POLICE SCOTLAND 

There was tabled report by Police Scotland which provided an update on policing in 
the Argyll and Bute area.

Decision

The Forum noted the position.

7. LOCAL LICENSING FORUM FUTURE MEETING DATES 2016 

Decision

Members noted the future meeting dates of the Forum as follows;

 Tuesday 10 May 2016 at 10.30am in the Council Chamber, Kilmory, 
Lochgilphead

 Tuesday 9 August 2016 at 10.30am in the Council Chamber, Kilmory, 
Lochgilphead

 Tuesday 8 November 2016 at 10.30am in the Council Chamber, Kilmory, 
Lochgilphead

 Tuesday 6 December 2016 at 10.30am in the Council Chamber, Kilmory, 
Lochgilphead - Joint Licensing Board and Local Licensing Forum meeting.





MINUTES of MEETING of ARGYLL AND BUTE LICENSING BOARD AND 
LOCAL LICENSING FORUM held in COMMITTEE ROOM 1, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD 

on WEDNESDAY, 9 DECEMBER 2015 

Present: Councillor Rory Colville and Kenneth Harrison (Joint Chair)

Councillor Alex McNaughton                  
Councillor Sandy Taylor
Councillor Robin Currie                          
Councillor Richard Trail
PC Gordon Brown, Police Scotland                               
J Russell Buchanan, Ex-Licensee
Martin Donovan, Licensed Trade                                      
Fred Bruce, Community Representative
Sheila Johnston, Community Representative                                   
Iain J MacNaughton, Community Representative
Craig McNally, NHS                                         
Eric Dearie, Licensing Standards Officer

Attending: Susan Mair, Legal Manager
Heather Murray, Police Scotland

At the commencement of the meeting, the respective Chairs of the Licensing Board 
and the Licensing Forum announced that they had agreed to chair the meeting 
jointly.

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies for absence were intimated on behalf of Councillor Roddy McCuish, Cath 
Cakebread, Tim Saul and Raymond Boyle. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no Declarations of Interest.

3. MINUTES 

The Minutes of the Joint Meeting of the Argyll and Bute Licensing Board and Argyll 
and Bute Local Licensing Forum held on Thursday12 December 2013 were 
approved as a correct record.

4. FINAL REPORT ON LICENSING OVERPROVISION CONSULTATION - ICONIC 
CONSULTING 

The Joint Group considered the final report on “Licensing Overprovision 
Consultation” by Iconic Consulting.  The report had also been submitted to the 
meeting of the Licensing Board held on Tuesday 17 November 2015 for 
consideration.



Decision

The Joint Group noted the report and its conclusions.

5. LOCAL LICENSING BOARD MEETING 17 NOVEMBER 2015 - FEEDBACK 

Susan Mair, Legal Manager, provided feedback from the meeting of the Licensing 
Board held on 17 November 2015.

Decision

The Joint Group noted the position.

6. MONITORING EXTENT OF OVERPROVISION 

(a) LOCAL LICENSING BOARD ROLE 
The Joint Group noted that it was the role of the Licensing Board to 
produce an annual policy statement.  The policy was due for renewal in 
March 2016, and it would be updated to reflect the Board’s decision on 
overprovision.

Decision

The Joint Group noted the position.

(b) LOCAL LICENSING FORUM ROLE 
The Joint Group discussed the role of the Local Licensing Forum (LLF) in 
monitoring the extent of overprovision.

It was noted that there were limited staffing resources available to provide 
dedicated concentration for the gathering of statistical evidence.  As such, 
it was suggested that the expertise and wealth of knowledge available to 
the Forum through its membership should therefore be recognised and 
utilised to assist with the identification of proposals for monitoring 
overprovision.

It was noted that the Chair of the LLF was in contact with representatives 
from Licensing Forums throughout Scotland and it was hoped that a 
National Licensing Forum could be re-formed.  A National Licensing 
Forum would provide a platform to enter into discussions with the Scottish 
Government on particular issues.

Decision

The Joint Group noted the position.

7. MECHANISMS TO MONITOR OVERPROVISION 

The Joint Group considered a number of proposals for monitoring overprovision in 
Argyll and Bute.  



These included;

 Statistical data;
 Locality boundaries;
 Issues highlighted in the ICONIC Consulting report;
 Engagement and linking in with local organisations;
 Role of Alcohol Focus Scotland;
 Interventions via Licensing Board;
 Intervention by Health;
 Intervention by Police;
 Intervention by Trade; and 
 Intervention by Schools.

Wide ranging discussion took place on each of the proposals.  However, it was noted 
that legislation determined the options available to the Licensing Board for 
implementation.

Decision

The Joint Group;

(i) noted the position; and

(ii) agreed that it would be of benefit for both the Licensing Board and the Local 
Licensing Forum to pursue increased engagement with key partners and the 
local community to assist with the monitoring of overprovision within Argyll 
and Bute.

8. AGREED ACTIONS 

There was tabled report “Determination of Overprovision Statement” by the Clerk to 
the Licensing Board, which had been considered at the meeting of the Licensing 
Board held on 17 November 2015.

The report provided details of the results of the ICONIC Consultation report, in order 
that the Board could consider options in relation to the assessment of overprovision, 
as required by statute.

In depth discussion took place by the Joint Group on the findings of the ICONIC 
Consultation findings.

The Joint Group noted that the Licensing Board was bound by legislation, and as 
such was limited in what it could enforce. It was considered that wider issues such 
as changes in attitude and culture towards the consumption of alcohol would also 
have to be taken into consideration when examining overprovision.

Decision

The Joint Group supported and noted the following recommendations outlined in the 
report and as agreed by the Licensing Board at its meeting held on 17 November 
2015;



(i) that there is no overprovision within the Argyll and Bute Council area;

(ii) agreed that overprovision should be monitored and reviewed in the five 
identified locations of Campbeltown, Dunoon, Helensburgh, Oban and 
Rothesay particularly in regard to off-sales and that these areas be 
designated as “areas of concern” in terms of overprovision; to be monitored 
through regular and robust reporting systems, the results of which would be 
reviewed by the Licensing Board on an annual basis for a period of three 
years;

(iii) that a system of collating analysing and reporting statistical information 
relevant to overprovision be developed on behalf of the Licensing Board by 
the Working Group, with the co-operation of relevant partner agencies, 
including the Local Licensing Forum, and would report back to the Licensing 
Board as and when required; and

(iv) that the Licensing Board agree to the Working Group continuing with reporting 
as and when required to the Board. In addition, the Working Group should 
encourage the establishment of a multi-agency group focussed on identifying 
and implementing initiatives which would lead to improved health and other 
relevant outcomes linked to the consumption of alcohol.

9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Decision

The Joint Group;

(i) agreed that the Legal Manager investigate the feasibility of placing an advert 
in taxis operating in Argyll and Bute which reinforced the “Don’t Drink and 
Drive” message;

(ii) agreed that a letter signed by the Chairs of the Licensing Board and Local 
Licensing Forum be sent to LLF member Cath Cakebread, to thank her for her 
contribution to the work of the Local Licensing Forum and wishing her well for 
the future; and

(iii) agreed that the Councils licensing administrative team be thanked for their 
work in resolving licensing issues during the Royal National Mod, Oban in 
October 2015.

10. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

Decision

It was agreed that a date be identified in December 2016 for the next joint meeting of 
the Argyll and Bute Licensing Board and the Local Licensing Forum.



REPORT BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES IN THE ABSENCE OF 
A QUORUM FOR THE LOCAL LICENSING FORUM held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, 

KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on TUESDAY, 8 NOVEMBER 2016 

Present:  

Attending:

Advance notification had been given by the Executive Director of Customer Services 
that the meeting would be inquorate due to a consensus of opinion between Officers 
and Members. Therefore there was no attendance by Members or Officers and no 
business was transacted. 





Alcohol l icensing in your community
How you can get involved

TOOLKIT RESOURCE

About th is toolk i t
This toolkit is designed to help anyone who would like to have a say on how alcohol impacts 
on their community.
It explains how the licensing process works in Scotland, and provides some practical tips to 
help people who want to get involved.

5
SECTION

4
SECTION

3
SECTION

Attending a licensing 
board hearing.

Commenting on an 
alcohol licence  
application.

Raising concerns  
about an existing  
alcohol licence.

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

2
SECTION

Raising concerns
about alcohol  
in your community.

Introduction to  
alcohol licensing.

1
SECTION

6
SECTION

Alcohol licensing 
explained.



TOOLKIT RESOURCE

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

Alcohol licensing 
explained

5 Attending a
licensing board
hearing

1

3
2

4

Introduction to 
alcohol licensing

Raising concerns 
about an existing 
alcohol licence

Commenting on an 
alcohol licence
application

Raising concerns
about alcohol in
your community

Using th is toolk i t :
To f ind out which sect ion of the toolk i t  is re levant to you, use the char t  below:

Page 2

Page 8

Page 4

Page 9

1

Page 14

Page 16



TOOLKIT RESOURCE - SECTION 1

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

Int roduct ion to a lcohol l icensing

•  Alcohol is not an ordinary product, i t  is a legal drug that causes 
 a range of harms.

•  Alcohol plays a par t  in many heal th and socia l  problems - not 
 just to the dr inker but a lso to those around them, including 
 fami l ies, neighbours and the wider community.

•  Evidence shows that the easier i t  is to buy alcohol,  the more 
 people wi l l  dr ink.

•  That is why controls are needed on how, where and when 
 a lcohol is sold.

Why is a lcohol l icensed?

•  Places ( for example supermarkets, convenience stores, pubs,  
 restaurants) that sel l  or serve alcohol must be l icensed. These are  
 e i ther permanent l icences (premises l icences) or temporary l icences  
 for speci f ic events (occasional l icences).

•  People ( for example managers or superv isors in l icensed 
 premises) that manage the sale of a lcohol must have a 
 personal l icence.

What is l icensed and why?

2

•  There are f ive l icensing object ives, set out in law, that underpin 
 the l icensing system in Scot land. These are:

  -  Prevent ing cr ime and disorder

  - Secur ing publ ic safety

  - Prevent ing publ ic nuisance

  - Protect ing and improving publ ic heal th

  - Protect ing chi ldren f rom harm

What are the l icensing object ives?

Home



TOOLKIT RESOURCE - SECTION 1

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

Other people who get involved in l icensing include:

 • L icensing Standards Off icers (LSOs)

 • Pol ice

 • Heal th board

 • Community counci ls

 • Local l icensing forum

 • Members of the community

Who else is involved?

There are a number of th ings you can do i f  you have concerns about 
a lcohol in your community.  
See “Rais ing concerns about a lcohol in your community” on page 4 .

What can I  do?

2
SECTION

Raising  
concerns about 
alcohol in your 
community.

Page 4 3
SECTION

Raising  
concerns about 
an existing  
alcohol licence.

Page 8 4
SECTION

Commenting on  
an alcohol  
licence  
application.

Page 9

3

•  The local l icensing board decides who can sel l  a lcohol,  and 
 where and when i t  can be sold. There are 40 l icensing boards 
 across Scot land. Only e lected counci l lors can be members of  
 a l icensing board.

Who decides who can sel l  a lcohol?

Other sect ions you may f ind useful :

Attending a  
licensing board 
hearing.

5 Page 14

Home



TOOLKIT RESOURCE - SECTION 2

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

I f  you have concerns, for example about a lcohol- fuel led noisy house 
par t ies or l i t ter or vandal ism, then speak to your local counci l lors.  
They may be on the l icensing board, or can speak to other counci l lors 
who are. They can also repor t the problems in your community to the  
appropr iate depar tments in the counci l .

You wi l l  be able to get the contact detai ls for your local counci l lor  
f rom the counci l .

Get in touch with your local counci l lors

Rais ing concerns about a lcohol  
in your community
There are a number of ways you can have a say on the impact of a lcohol  
in your local community.

TOP TIP
I f  your neighbours also have concerns, suggest they contact their 
local council lors too. It  wi l l  be important for council lors to know 
the scale of concern about problems in the community.

TOP TIP
I f  a council lor is a member of the l icensing board they are unl ikely 
to be able to talk to you about specif ic l icence applications.  
However there may be other council lors for that local area that you 
could speak to.

I f  you are concerned about the way a l icensed premises is running, the 
pol ice and Licensing Standards Off icer (LSO) may be able to take  
act ion to sor t  out these problems. I f  th ings don’t  get better,  you can 
ask the l icensing board to rev iew the l icence. 
The LSO works for the local counci l  and you wi l l  be f ind thei r  contact 
detai ls on the counci l ’s websi te or by phoning them.
For more informat ion on act ion that can be taken i f  you have concerns 
about a par t icular business, see “Rais ing concerns about an exist ing 
alcohol l icence” on page 8 .

Repor t any problems with a l icensed premises to the 
pol ice and Licensing Standards Off icer

4

Home



TOOLKIT RESOURCE - SECTION 2

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

When a business is apply ing for a new alcohol l icence, a change to  
an exist ing l icence, or for an occasional l icence, any person has the 
oppor tuni ty to object to th is appl icat ion. You don’t  have to l ive nearby 
to ra ise concerns about the appl icat ion.
For more informat ion on object ing to a lcohol l icence appl icat ions, see 
“Comment ing on an alcohol l icence appl icat ion” on page 9  and Top 
T ips on  page 11 .

Comment on alcohol l icence appl icat ions

TOP TIP
An application can only be refused on specif ic grounds.  
Your comments should therefore relate to these grounds for  
objection. The most common grounds for objection are:
•  inconsistency with the l icensing objectives 
•  the premises being unsuitable for the sale of alcohol; and 
•  there being too many premises in that area (overprovision).

New l icensed premises that are being bui l t ,  or that are conver t ing  
a bui ld ing that was used for a di f ferent purpose, wi l l  normal ly have to 
apply for planning permission. This wi l l  usual ly happen before i t  
appl ies for i ts a lcohol l icence. 
I f  you have concerns about such a new business opening, you could 
submit an object ion to i ts planning appl icat ion.
Your counci l ’s websi te should have informat ion on new planning  
appl icat ions and how to object.

Input to the planning process

5

Home



TOOLKIT RESOURCE - SECTION 2

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

In every l icensing board area there is a local l icensing forum.  
The forum monitors l icensing in the local area and can of fer advice and 
recommendat ions to the l icensing board. The l icensing forum is made 
up of di f ferent people with an interest in l icensing, including  
community members. 
You can take concerns about a lcohol in your area to the local l icensing 
forum. The forum cannot comment on indiv idual l icensed premises, but 
they can highl ight to the board community issues or concerns, such as 
the number of l icensed premises in the area.

Get involved with the local l icensing forum

6

Many areas have a local community counci l ,  which represents  
the v iews of residents in that community. Community counci ls must  
be consul ted i f  a business wants to star t  sel l ing a lcohol,  and  
representat ives are somet imes involved in the local l icensing forum. 
Community counci ls of ten get involved in other local decis ions such as 
planning or development of local government pol ic ies. You might want 
to h ighl ight your concerns to the community counci l ,  or even become  
a member.
You can f ind out i f  your area has a local community counci l  by going to 
www.communitycouncils .org.uk

Contact your local community counci l

Home

TOP TIP
Anyone can attend a forum meeting, but check in advance what 
the rules are for members of the public speaking or raising issues 
at the meeting.

TOP TIP
Find out i f  there is a community representative on your local forum 
that you can contact to express opinions on your behalf.

TOP TIP
I f  you have a part icular interest in l icensing issues you can apply 
to join the l icensing forum. Forum members are appointed by the 
local council .

TOP TIP
Contact your local l icensing forum through the council ’s website 
or via the LSO.



TOOLKIT RESOURCE - SECTION 2

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

Each local l icensing board has to develop a statement of l icensing 
pol icy. This pol icy sets out how the l icensing board wi l l  carry out i ts 
work including how i t  wi l l  promote the f ive l icensing object ives, how i t 
wil l  make decis ions and also i f  the board th inks there are enough, or 
too many, l icensed premises in any areas.
Current ly a l l  l icensing boards must update thei r  statement of l icensing 
pol icy every three years. Under new legis lat ion they wi l l  be required  
to produce these pol ic ies every 5 years, wi th in 18 months of local  
government e lect ions.
A l icensing board must consul t  var ious groups when i t  is developing  
i ts pol icy, including the local l icensing forum and the local heal th 
board. Some wi l l  send i t  to community counci ls or organisat ions  
represent ing the interests of the l icensed trade.
Most l icensing boards also put the consul tat ion on the counci l ’s  
website and anyone can respond. Most consul tat ions wi l l  begin around 
six to nine months before the statement is due to be produced.

Respond to a lcohol l icensing consul tat ions

TOP TIP
I f  you are contributing your opinion it  can help to speak to your 
neighbours - the feel ings of a large group of people often carry 
more weight in pol icy consultations.

TOP TIP
I t  helps i f  contr ibutions ref lect the views of the wider community. 
Think about how you could gather the views of people l iving in 
your local area, such as surveys or public meetings. Alternatively, 
other local groups such as community councils might be gathering 
evidence and you might be able to take part in their work.

TOP TIP
Try to include evidence to support your opinions, such as  
t imes you’ve reported noise disturbances to the pol ice or  
environmental health noise teams. Reporting such problems also 
means that these incidents wil l  be included in off icial statist ics.

7

Alcohol  
licensing  
explained.

Page 16

Other sect ions you may f ind useful :

6
SECTION

3
SECTION

Raising  
concerns about 
an existing  
alcohol licence.

Page 8 4
SECTION

Commenting on  
an alcohol  
licence  
application.

Page 9

Attending a  
licensing board 
hearing.

5 Page 14

Home

SECTION

TOP TIP You can contact your local l icensing board to f ind out when it  wi l l 
be updating its pol icy and how you can give your views.



TOOLKIT RESOURCE - SECTION 3

Rais ing concerns about an  
exist ing alcohol l icence
If you are concerned about how a place that sel ls a lcohol is operat ing, there  
are processes you can use to address th is (see below). The pol ice or LSO may 
be able to resolve any problems or the l icensing board can review the l icence.  
The l icensing board is unl ikely to uphold a l icence review unless the pol ice or 
LSO also have concerns so you should contact them as a f i rst  step.

Repor t problems to the pol ice or LSO and/or others such as  
environmental health noise teams.  

I t is a good idea to keep a record of al l issues as well as reporting them.

See “Attending  
a l icensing board  
hear ing”. Pg 14

TOP TIP

LSO mediates between you 
and the l icence holder to  

resolve the situation.  
This could be a meeting or  

the LSO could contact each  
of you separately.

Situat ion resolved.
No fur ther act ion required.

LSO invest igates. Pol ice invest igate.

LSO offers 
advice to  

the l icence 
holder.

LSO issues compliance 
notice to the licence 

holder. This notice sets  
timescales for required 
action(s) that have to  

be completed.

Police have an improvement 
meeting with the licence holder. 
You will not be included in this 

meeting. There is no  
requirement for the police to  

inform you of the details.

Does th is resolve the problem?

NO YES

I f  you are not happy 
with the resul ts, go 

back to the LSO. 
Cont inue to record and 

repor t issues.

Request a rev iew of the l icence.
The pol ice, LSO or any indiv idual can 
request a rev iew of a l icence. There 
are speci f ic grounds for request ing a 

rev iew of a l icence.

Licensing board hearing held (which you should 
try and attend). The licensing board will decide if 

there are grounds for a review.

The l icensing board wil l ask you to speak to your application. It wil l also ask the 
LSO, police and others such as environmental health for reports on the premises. 
The licensing board will consider all information and decide if any action is required.

• no action   • written warning   • vary the conditions of the l icence 
• suspend the l icence for a specif ic period of t ime   • revoke the l icence   

No fur ther act ion taken.

8

Home

NO YES



TOOLKIT RESOURCE - SECTION 4

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

Comment ing on an alcohol  
l icence appl icat ion
Licensing boards have to fo l low str ict  procedures when consider ing alcohol 
l icence appl icat ions. These procedures are di f ferent depending on the type of 
l icence appl icat ion.

The appl icat ions that people wi l l  most commonly encounter are for provis ional 
l icences, new premises l icences or major var iat ions of ex ist ing l icences.  
The process for these appl icat ions is set out below:

Provisional l icence New premises l icence Major variation

Application received by l icensing board.

Application advertised for 21 days.

- Neighbours with in 4m, community counci l (s)  for the area, counci l ,
  pol ice, heal th board and f i re author i ty contacted.
- Put on l icensing board websi te.
- A4 not ice of appl icat ion shown at or near the premises.

Object ions received?See “Wri t ing an 
object ion”. Pg 11

YES NOCopies of object ions 
sent to appl icant.

Licensing Board hearing held:
appl icant and objectors wi l l  be 

inv i ted to th is hear ing.

See  
“Attending a  

l icensing board 
hear ing” Pg 14

Licensing board decides whether 
to grant or refuse the application.

Applicant/objectors informed of decision.

- The l icensing board must wr i te to the appl icant and objectors with in 7 days. 
- The appl icant/objectors have 14 days to wr i te to the l icensing board to ask  
  for wr i t ten reasons for the decis ion. 
- I f  the appl icat ion is refused, the appl icant can appeal,  or reapply at a 
  later date. 
- Objectors have no di rect route of appeal.

TOP TIP

TOP TIP

9

Home



Copies of object ions 
sent to appl icant.

Licensing board decides whether 
to grant or refuse the application.

Applicant/objectors informed of decision.

- The l icensing board must wr i te to the appl icant and objectors with in 7 days.
- The appl icant/objectors have 14 days to wr i te to the l icensing board for wr i t ten  
  reasons for the decis ion.
- I f  the appl icat ion is granted, objectors have a r ight of appeal.
- I f  the appl icat ion is refused, the appl icant can appeal,  or reapply at a later date.

TOOLKIT RESOURCE - SECTION 4

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

Occasional l icence

Application received by l icensing board.

Application advertised for 7 days.

- Pol ice and LSO informed.
- Put on l icensing board websi te.

Object ions received?
Anyone can object

Licensing hearing may be held.
Appl icant and objectors wi l l  be  

inv i ted to th is hear ing.

Appl icat ion granted
TOP TIP

10

There are a lso oppor tuni t ies for communit ies to comment on occasional l icence 
appl icat ions. The appl icat ion procedure is s l ight ly di f ferent,  wi th a more l imi ted 
oppor tuni ty for the publ ic to be notf ied and comment.

See “Wri t ing an 
object ion”. Pg 11TOP TIP

See  
“Attending a  

l icensing board 
hear ing” Pg 14

Other sect ions you may f ind useful :

Licensing  
explained

Page 166
SECTION

Home

Attending a  
licensing board 
hearing.

5 Page 14
SECTION

YES NO



TOOLKIT RESOURCE - TOP TIPS

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

Look at your l icensing board’s statement of l icensing policy.
This pol icy sets out what the l icensing board is l ikely to al low premises  
to do and what standards they expect. It  wi l l  also show any areas of  
concern - such as overprovision - the l icensing board has. It  can be  
helpful to refer to what the pol icy says in your objection / representation.

Writ ing an object ion

Look at the layout plan and operating plan for the application.
These plans detai l  how the premises wil l  be laid out and how it wi l l  be
run. You wil l  need to contact the l icensing board to get copies of these.
Some l icensing boards wil l  only let you see the plans at their off ices.
Others may al low you to take copies or might email  them to you.

Look at useful sources of information.
The l icensing board has a register of al l  l icensed premises in its area and
you may be able to access this onl ine or by going to the l icensing off ice.
You can also access information about local areas by looking at
www.cresh.org.uk/webmap.

Refer to the grounds for objecting in your submission.
A l icence can only be refused, or condit ions attached, on specif ic grounds.
It is important that your comments make clear:
a) on what ground you are objecting/making a representation;
b) how the grounds apply to the specif ic application/premises.
I f  you are objecting on more than one ground, then address these separately.

Check how you should submit your objection.
Objections must be in writ ing. Some l icensing boards may accept
objections by email  but you should check this with them.  
Some l icensing boards have a form for objectors to use to help them stick 
to the relevant grounds for objection. This wil l  usual ly be on the l icensing 
board’s website, so look there or phone and ask whether there is a  
form for you to use.

Be specific with your comments.
Try and focus your comments on how the application impacts on you, or
how the premises impacts on the grounds for objections. Try and avoid
making general statements in case they are considered to be irrelevant
to the application.

11

Here are some pract ical  t ips for comment ing on alcohol l icence appl icat ions. 
These t ips might a lso be helpfu l  i f  you are request ing a rev iew of a l icence.

Home

✔	

✔	

✔	

✔	

✔	

✔	



TOOLKIT RESOURCE - TOP TIPS

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

Writ ing an object ion (cont inued)
Provide any evidence you have.
I f  you have evidence to support the points you are making, for example
records of phone cal ls to the pol ice or LSO, you should give detai ls
to the l icensing board. Evidence wil l  have more weight than speculation.  
I f  you report incidents to the pol ice you should ask for an incident number 
and include this in your objection.

Submit the objection in the name of an individual.
The law states that “any person” may object. To avoid any problems, i f  you 
are submitt ing comments on behalf of an organisation such as a community 
council ,  i t  is better for any letter to be signed by an individual.
However, you should make clear that the comments represent the views
of the organisation. It  is also possible for individual members of an
organisation to submit their own comments.

Make sure you submit your comments on time.
The notice of the application wil l  give the deadline for submitt ing
comments to the l icensing board. It  is important that you send your
comments to the l icensing board by this date, because late objections
may not be taken into account.  
I f  you miss the deadline, include reasons why this has happened.  
Depending on the reason, the l icensing board might consider your  
comments.

Include photos if they would add to your point.
Not al l  l icensing board members wil l  know your part icular area.
Photographs can help to make your point. (Applicants wil l  bring
photographs and other information to a l icensing board hearing to i l lustrate
what they are aiming to offer. )

Ask the Licensing Standards Officer (LSO) for advice.
Part of the LSO’s job is to give advice. They can give general guidance
about what you need to do to object or make a representation, and
explain what happens at the l icensing board hearing. Your local council
wi l l  be able to give you information about how to contact the LSO.

Would you support the application if changes were made to it?
In your written comments you can make suggestions for changes you
would l ike the applicant to make to address your concerns. This gives
them the opportunity to consider your ideas in advance of the hearing.
Commonly suggested changes are things l ike a smaller alcohol display area, 
shorter l icensed hours, CCTV to be instal led, or restr ict ions on noise levels.

12

Home

✔	

✔	

✔	

✔	

✔	

✔	



TOOLKIT RESOURCE - TOP TIPS

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

Writ ing an object ion: Things to watch out for

In an appl icat ion to change how a business is run, the l icensing board does 
not have the abi l i ty to remove the l icence, only to agree or refuse the  
proposed l icence var iat ion.
• Your object ions must be about the changes proposed in the appl icat ion.

Petit ions opposing l icences are often not accepted by the l icensing board 
because of basic mistakes. Some common problems with pet i t ions are names 
not being readable, names or s ignatures looking l ike they were writ ten by the 
same person, problems with the wording of the pet i t ion, and i t  not being clear 
whether people have meant to sign to each of the relevant points.
• Make sure that al l  s ignator ies can see exact ly what points they are agreeing  
   to - for example, l ist the points on each page.
• Avoid mult iple points in a phrase, for example “ i t  would be a publ ic nuisance  
   and affect vulnerable people.” List the points separately and ask people to  
   t ick which ones they agree with.
• Ensure each person only puts their own name and that they sign i t .

The onus is on objectors to say why the l icence should be refused, rather than 
on appl icants to provide evidence for why their appl icat ion should be granted.
• Think about what the appl icant might say about their appl icat ion. Raise your 
concerns about the appl icant’s l ikely arguments as quest ions in your submission.
• I f  you have evidence to back up your concerns - for example from a simi lar 
s i tuat ion somewhere else - then include this in your writ ten object ion.

13

The l icensing board cannot consider any information about the  
appl icat ion that doesn’t relate to alcohol l icensing (for example traffic, planning.)
• St ick to alcohol l icensing.
• Make sure you clear ly state which ground for object ion you are using.

Some l icensing boards may treat ident ical/s imi lar letters as one object ion 
rather than di fferent object ions.
• I t  would be better for each person to write their own letter of object ion, and  
   these should try to avoid being too simi lar.
• I f  you object regular ly to appl icat ions, tai lor each object ion to the specif ic  
   appl icat ion/premises rather than sending in the same letter.

Object ions from members of the l icensed trade can be given less weight  
because they are seen as protect ing their own business.
• The l icensing board has the discret ion to attach whatever importance they  
   th ink appropriate to each piece of information before them.

Home



TOOLKIT RESOURCE - SECTION 5

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

Attending a l icensing board hear ing
I f  you have put in an object ion or made representat ions on an appl icat ion,  
the l icensing board wi l l  inv i te you to attend the hear ing where they wi l l  be  
consider ing the appl icat ion.

The diagram below shows the process the hear ing is l ike ly to fo l low.  
A simi lar process wi l l  be fo l lowed in l icence review hear ings.

Preliminary matters.
Licensing board may ask the clerk some legal quest ions 

about the paperwork or process for the appl icat ion so far.

Objectors asked to summarise their views.
Al l  objectors, such as pol ice, LSO, heal th board 

or local residents wi l l  be inv i ted to speak.

See “Attending  
a l icensing board 
hear ing Top T ips” 

Pg 15

Applicant, or their agent, summarises  
their application. 

They wi l l  a lso respond to the points ra ised 
by the objectors.

Licensing board considers the application.
Some l icensing boards have discussions in publ ic, some in pr ivate 

( ‘ recess’ ) .  They wi l l  consider i f  any of the grounds for object ion apply, 
and i f  the appl icat ion is in l ine with the board’s pol icy.

Licensing board decides whether to grant or refuse the application.

Applicant/objectors informed of decision.
Licensing board must wr i te to appl icant and 

objectors with in 7 days.

TOP TIP
Licensing board 

can ask objectors 
some quest ions.

Licensing board can ask 
appl icant some quest ions.
Some l icensing boards wi l l 

let  objectors respond to 
the appl icant ’s points,  

but some wi l l  not.

Appl icat ion  
refused.

Appl icat ion  
granted.

Appl icat ion granted with 
changes/extra condit ions.  

Licensing board can ask the
appl icant i f  they would make

changes to thei r  appl icat ion.

Adjourned to future hear ing.
Licensing board can defer

decis ion i f  they want to gather
more informat ion.

Applicant/objector request reasons for decision.
Appl icant/objector has 14 days to wr i te to the  

l icensing board to ask for wr i t ten reasons for the decis ion.

Appl icant can reapply 
at later date or appeal  

the decis ion.

14

Home



TOOLKIT RESOURCE - TOP TIPS

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

Attending a l icensing board hear ing
Check the website in advance for the agenda.
Some l icensing boards make the papers avai lable up to one week in
advance of the hearing. (Many do not, but i f  you ask a member of council
staff on the day, they should be able to give you a copy.) I t  is diff icult to say 
how long each case wil l  take or when yours wil l  be heard but the agenda 
wil l  give you an idea of the running order for the hearing.

Try and see a l icensing board hearing in advance.
I t  might help to go along to a l icensing board hearing before the one you’l l
be speaking at. This wil l  let you see the layout of the room, and how the
hearings are run.

Give another person written authorisation to speak on your behalf 
if  you can’t attend.
I f  you go to the hearing, l icensing boards usual ly welcome the chance to
ask you some questions about your written comments. I f  you don’t go to
the hearing, they may give less weight to your objections.
If  you are unable to make the hearing, ask someone else to attend on
your behalf.  You must give them written premission to speak for you,  
and they should show this to the clerk.

Know what you want to say and prepare.
I t  is helpful to think about what you want to say - bring notes. At the
hearing, you might only get one chance to speak. You may not be given
the opportunity to respond to comments made by the applicant, or to
raise any new points.
• Try and address your points the f irst t ime you are invited to speak.
• I f  there are points you want to raise outwith the grounds for objection,
  word them as questions.
• Try and avoid repeating yourself.

Ask for any ‘promises’ made by the applicant to be added as  
conditions of the l icence.
Applicants often give assurances to the l icensing board that they wil l
or wil l  not do certain things, for example that al l  staff wi l l  be trained to  
personal l icence holder level.  To make sure this happens you could ask the
l icensing board to include the applicant’s commitments as condit ions  
of the l icence.

If  you are having problems hearing, let council staff know.
I f  you are struggling to hear the discussions, let a member of council
staff at the hearing know. They might be able to tel l  you where you can
sit that wil l  help you hear better, or they may be able to ask the l icensing
board to speak up.

15

Home

✔	

✔	

✔	

✔	

✔	

✔	



Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community

This section gives a more detailed explanation of some of the words 
and phrases you will  f ind in the toolkit. 

Who’s who in a lcohol l icensing
Agent

• I t  is common for a person apply ing for a premises l icence to have 
someone present thei r  appl icat ion and respond to any object ions.  
This person is referred to as the appl icant ’s agent. This is normal ly a 
sol ic i tor. 

Applicant

• This is the person or business apply ing for a l icence. 

Clerk of the l icensing board

• The job of the clerk of the board, or deputy clerk, is to give legal 
advice to the l icensing board. They are employed by the counci l  and 
are legal ly qual i f ied. Dur ing hear ings, they often s i t  in f ront of the 
l icensing board, or beside the convener. 

Community councils

• Community counci ls are voluntary organisat ions made up of local 
residents that represent the interests of people l iv ing in thei r 
community. Community counci ls must be not i f ied of new l icence 
appl icat ions in thei r  local  area. The l icensing board wi l l  of ten seek thei r 
v iews dur ing the development of the statement of l icensing pol icy. 
Representat ives f rom community counci ls are often members of local 
l icensing forums.

Convener (or ‘Chair’)  of l icensing board

• The convener of the l icensing board is a counci l lor.  He/she is of ten 
referred to as the chair  of the l icensing board as he/she chairs i ts 
hear ings. He/she wi l l  have the cast ing vote i f  there is a spl i t  decis ion 
of the l icensing board.  

Health board

• The local heal th board for the area is sent a l l  appl icat ions for new 
premises l icences and l icence var iat ions, and has the r ight to object to 
appl icat ions. 

• I t  must be par t  of the local l icensing forum.

• The heal th board must provide the l icensing board with informat ion for 
the statement of l icensing pol icy. The l icensing board must consul t 
them when the l icensing board is developing i ts overprovis ion pol icy.

16

ALCOHOL LICENSING EXPLAINED

Home



Licensing board

• Licensing boards decide al l  appl icat ions for l icences to sel l  and serve 
alcohol in thei r  area.

• There is one l icensing board in each local author i ty.  (Except ions: South 
Lanarkshire, Dumfr ies and Gal loway and Aberdeenshire have more than 
one, known as div is ional l icensing boards.)

• Licensing boards must publ ish a statement of l icensing pol icy every 
three years, and must assess overprovis ion in the area they cover.

• Each l icensing board wi l l  have between 5 and 10 members. Members 
are local counci l lors and must complete a course and exam before 
si t t ing on the board.

• Despite being made up of local counci l lors, the l icensing board is 
separate f rom the counci l . 

Licensing Standards Officers (LSOs)

• Licensing Standards Off icers (LSOs) are counci l  employees. Each 
counci l  decides how many LSOs are needed in i ts area. LSOs have 
three ro les:

 -  Guidance – provide guidance on alcohol l icensing to the publ ic and  
 l icensed trade.

 -  Mediat ion – mediate in low level  d isputes between the publ ic and  
 the l icensed trade.

 -  Compl iance – check that l icensed premises are comply ing with the  
 law. I f  problems are not resolved, the LSO can ask the l icensing  
 board to rev iew the premises l icence.

Local l icensing forum

• The local l icensing forum reviews or scrut in ises the operat ion of the 
Licensing (Scot land) Act 2005 in i ts area and gives advice and makes 
recommendat ions to the l icensing board. The l icensing board must 
have regard to th is advice and recommendat ions. 

• The l icensing forum cannot comment on indiv idual cases. 

• There are between 5 and 21 members of each forum. I t  must include 
at least one LSO for the area and a representat ive of the heal th board. 
Other members commonly include l icence holders; pol ice; heal th, 
educat ion or socia l  work; young people; and residents.

• The l icensing forum has at least one meet ing with the l icensing board 
every year. 

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community17

Home

ALCOHOL LICENSING EXPLAINED



Police

• The pol ice are sent a l l  appl icat ions for new l icences and l icence 
var iat ions, and have the r ight to object to appl icat ions.  

• They enforce the law, have the power of entry to l icensed premises 
and author ise test purchasing of a lcohol.

• I f  the pol ice have concerns about a premises or a personal l icence 
holder, they can ask the l icensing board to rev iew the l icence.

• The pol ice must provide the l icensing board with informat ion for the 
statement of l icensing pol icy. The l icensing board must consul t  the 
pol ice when developing i ts overprovis ion pol icy.

Premises manager 

• The premises manager is responsible for the day-to-day running of a 
l icensed premises. They can only be the premises manager for one 
premises.

• The premises manager must be a personal l icence holder.

Other organisations that might get involved:

Alcohol and Drug Partnerships (ADPs)

• An ADP includes members of the local heal th board, local author i ty, 
pol ice, pr ison serv ice and voluntary sector. ADPs are responsible for 
drawing up jo int strategies for tackl ing alcohol and drug use in thei r 
communit ies.

Community Planning Partnerships (CPPs)

• CPPs are hosted by the local author i ty and are made up of 
representat ives f rom heal th, pol ice, educat ion, f i re, counci l lors and 
somet imes counci l  depar tments. A CPP coordinates serv ices for a 
par t icular area.

Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs)

• CSPs are local author i ty- led par tnerships that br ing together 
representatives from the local authority, police service and fire and rescue 
services. Health, education and other public sector interests may also be 
represented. CSPs work to reduce anti-social behaviour and fear of crime 
and to promote safer, more inclusive and healthier communities. 

Health and Social Care Partnerships (HSCPs)

• A HSCP is a par tnership managed by the heal th board and local 
author i ty,  and includes voluntary sector and independent sector 
organisat ions. I t  p lans the local del ivery of integrated heal th and socia l 
care serv ices.

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community18

Home

ALCOHOL LICENSING EXPLAINED



Occasional l icence 

• I f  a premises is not l icensed but wishes to sel l  a lcohol for a par t icular 
event, an appl icat ion can be made to the l icensing board for an 
occasional l icence. 

• Simi lar nat ional mandatory condit ions to those apply ing to premises 
l icences also apply to occasional l icences. 

• Premises and personal l icence holders can apply for an occasional 
l icence. Voluntary organisat ions can also apply i f  the event is l inked to 
thei r  act iv i t ies. Members clubs need an occasional l icence to a l low the 
general  publ ic to buy and consume alcohol on thei r  premises.

• There are ru les about the number of occasional l icences voluntary 
organisat ions and members clubs can have in a 12 month per iod. 

Personal l icence 

• A personal l icence al lows a person to author ise or superv ise the sale 
of a lcohol,  and to t ra in staf f  to the required minimum. 

• Personal l icence holders must complete a course and exam, and then 
apply to the l icensing board for thei r  l icence. They must complete 
ref resher t ra in ing with in f ive years of gain ing thei r  l icence.

• Every premises (wi th the except ion of members clubs) must have at 
least one personal l icence holder – the premises manager – but in 
pract ice most premises have several .  I t  is common for managers and 
superv isors to hold personal l icences.

Premises l icence

• For a place to be al lowed to sel l  a lcohol,  i t  must have a premises or 
occasional l icence, or be an exempt premises. 

• A premises l icence al lows alcohol to be sold. Any premises sel l ing 
a lcohol,  whether on-sale or of f-sale, must have a premises l icence. A 
premises l icence is granted by the l icensing board of the area where 
the premises is s i tuated.

• The premises l icence includes an operat ing plan and layout plan and 
has var ious condit ions attached to i t .  Breach of a condit ion wi l l  lead to 
a review of the premises l icence.

• Premises l icences last indef in i te ly but can be reviewed in cer ta in 
circumstances.

Types of l icences

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community19

Home

ALCOHOL LICENSING EXPLAINED



Provisional l icence

• A provis ional l icence wi l l  a l low a business to be granted a premises 
l icence once the premises are bui l t  or conver ted. I t  lasts for up to four 
years. I t  is counted for the purposes of overprovis ion, even though the 
premises is not t rading.

Types of premises
Exempt premises

• Some premises do not need to have a l icence to sel l  a lcohol.  

• Exempt premises are internat ional a i rpor ts, internat ional por ts, and 
tra ins, aeroplanes, ships, boats and ferr ies on journeys.  

Licensed premises

• Any place sel l ing a lcohol to the general  publ ic must have a 
premises l icence and is cal led a l icensed premises. This could be a 
supermarket, convenience store, pub, c lub, restaurant, café etc.

Members clubs

• Members clubs are premises that are not open to the general  publ ic 
and can only be used by thei r  members and thei r  members’ guests, 
such as a bowl ing club. Their  business must not be conducted to 
make a prof i t .  

• Because they do not sel l  a lcohol to the general  publ ic, specia l  ru les 
apply to members clubs. Whi le they need to have a premises l icence, 
they do not need to have a premises manager nor for the sale of 
a lcohol to be superv ised by a personal l icence holder.  

• I f  a members club wanted to sel l  a lcohol to the general  publ ic, i t  must 
apply for an occasional l icence. 

• The number of members clubs is not included when a l icensing board 
assesses whether there is overprovis ion in an area. 

Off-sales premises (also known as off-l icence)

• This is a shop sel l ing alcohol to be taken away and drunk of f  the 
premises. Examples are supermarkets, convenience stores, specia l ist 
of f- l icences and gi f t  shops. 

On-sales premises (also known as on-licence)

• These are premises sel l ing a lcohol to be drunk with in the premises. 
Examples include pubs, c lubs, and restaurants. 

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community20

Home

ALCOHOL LICENSING EXPLAINED



Licensing terms
Alcohol display area 

• Off-sales are only a l lowed to display a lcohol in one or two areas, 
known as the alcohol display areas. One of these areas must be 
‘a lcohol only.’

• The alcohol display area is shown in the layout plan.  

Conditions 

• Cer ta in ru les about how alcohol can be sold and how businesses must 
be run are attached to a l l  premises and occasional l icences. These are 
cal led ‘nat ional mandatory condit ions.’

• A l icensing board can also attach ‘ local  condit ions’ to some or a l l  of 
the premises and occasional l icences in their area. These local conditions 
wil l usually be l isted in the board’s statement of l icensing policy. 

Delegated powers

• Decis ion-making powers for cer ta in appl icat ions can be delegated to 
a sub-committee of the l icensing board, the convener, the clerk of the 
board and/or the clerk’s staf f ,  rather than being considered by the fu l l 
l icensing board. 

• Examples of the types of appl icat ions that might be deal t  wi th under 
delegated powers are the grant ing of occasional and personal l icences 
and minor var iat ions where there are no concerns or object ions.

Grounds for objections

• An appl icat ion for a new premises l icence or l icence var iat ion can only 
be refused for speci f ic reasons set out in law. These are:

 - Grant ing the l icence/ var iat ion would be inconsistent wi th one of the  
 f ive l icensing object ives.

 -  The premises is ‘excluded’ in terms of the Licensing (Scot land) Act  
 2005 (a motorway serv ice stat ion or garage).

 - An appl icat ion for the same premises was refused with in one year.
 - Given the nature of the proposed act iv i t ies, the l ike ly customers and  

 the premises themselves, the premises are unsui table for the sale of  
 a lcohol.

 -  I f  the appl icat ion were to be granted i t  would resul t  in overprovis ion  
 ( too many premises of a par t icular type in that area).

TOOLKIT RESOURCE - TOP TIPS

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community21

Home

ALCOHOL LICENSING EXPLAINED



Hearing

• A hear ing is the l icensing board meet ing where i t  under takes i ts 
business, such as deciding on l icence applications or reviewing l icences.

Irresponsible promotions

• I t  is a condit ion of a l l  premises and occasional l icences that 
businesses must not run i r responsible promot ions. Any premises 
running an i r responsible promot ion could have i ts l icence reviewed. 

• Examples of i r responsible promot ions are given in the Licensing 
(Scot land) Act 2005. These include deals that encourage, or seek 
to encourage, a person to buy or dr ink more alcohol than they had 
intended, for example ‘buy one get one f ree’ of fers or 3 bott les for 
£10. 

• In addit ion to the speci f ic examples given in the 2005 Act, the 
l icensing board may judge a par t icular promot ion to be i r responsible.

Layout plan

• The layout plan shows how the premises is la id out.  For of f-sales, th is 
wi l l  include the alcohol display area, and for on-sales th is includes the 
bar and seat ing areas.  

• The layout plan must be provided as par t  of a l icence appl icat ion. I t 
forms par t  of the premises l icence. 

• I f  a l icence holder wishes to make changes to the layout plan, they 
must apply for a ‘ l icence var iat ion.’

Licence review (premises l icence review)

• I f  there are concerns about how a business is operat ing, the pol ice, 
the LSO, the l icensing board and any person can apply for a rev iew 
of a premises l icence. There are speci f ied grounds for a rev iew: 
breach of a l icence condit ion, or something re levant to the l icensing 
object ives. 

• I f  the l icensing board decides there are grounds for a rev iew, they 
must hold a hear ing. I f  the review is upheld, the board has the opt ion 
of issuing a wr i t ten warning, vary ing the l icence, suspending the 
l icence or revoking i t .

Licence review (personal l icence review)

• The l icensing board can review a personal l icence under cer ta in 
circumstances: i f  the l icence holder has acted inconsistent ly wi th the 
l icensing object ives or has convict ions. 

• The l icensing board can decide to revoke, suspend or endorse the 
l icence. 

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community22

Home

ALCOHOL LICENSING EXPLAINED



Licence variations: minor and non-minor (‘major’)

• A var iat ion is where an exist ing premises appl ies to the l icensing board 
to change how i t  operates. 

• Cer ta in smal l  changes, as detai led in legis lat ion, are ‘minor ’  var iat ions. 
Minor var iat ions would include th ings l ike reducing opening hours. 
These are granted automat ical ly,  of ten under delegated powers.

• Non-minor var iat ions are commonly cal led ‘major var iat ions’.  
An example would be a business want ing to change f rom a restaurant 
to an of f-sales. The process is very s imi lar to an appl icat ion for a new 
l icence. The l icence al ready exists and i t  cannot be taken away, but 
people can object to the changes.

Licensed hours

• These are the hours that a lcohol can be sold and, for on-sales, 
when customers can dr ink i t  on the premises. The l icensing board’s 
approach to l icensed hours are detai led in i ts statement of l icensing 
pol icy. 

• By law, of f-sales premises cannot sel l  a lcohol before 10am and  
after 10pm. 

• There are no speci f ic ru les for on-sales, but there is a presumpt ion 
against grant ing 24 hour l icences. 

Licensing objectives

• The Licensing (Scot land) Act 2005 is based on f ive l icensing 
object ives. Al l  l icensing decis ions must be made with reference to 
these f ive object ives. Al l  f ive object ives are of equal impor tance.  
They are: 

 -  prevent ing cr ime and disorder, 
 -  secur ing publ ic safety, 
 - prevent ing publ ic nuisance, 
 - protect ing and improving publ ic heal th, and 
 - protect ing chi ldren f rom harm.

• I f  an appl icat ion is fe l t  to be inconsistent wi th any of the f ive 
object ives, the l icensing board can refuse the appl icat ion. 

• The l icensing board must seek to promote the l icensing object ives in 
i ts statement of l icensing pol icy. 

• I f  a premises or personal l icence holder acts inconsistent ly wi th the 
l icensing object ives, they could have thei r  l icence reviewed. 

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community23

Home

ALCOHOL LICENSING EXPLAINED



Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 (the ‘2005 Act’)

• This is the main legis lat ion sett ing out the ru les for the alcohol l icensing system  
in Scot land. 

Notice of application

• An appl icat ion for a new premises l icence must be adver t ised for 21 days,  
to give people the oppor tuni ty to send comments to the l icensing board. 

• The premises must display a not ice advis ing that an appl icat ion has been made. 
Whi le these not ices can be in legal language, they should provide the fo l lowing 
in format ion:

 -  the name and address of the appl icant
 - the date by which object ions/representat ions must be received by  

 the l icensing board. 
 -  informat ion on the nature of the business and proposed l icensed  

 hours ( in the case of new premises l icence appl icat ions.) 
 -  a br ief  overv iew of the proposed changes to the l icence ( in the case  

 of l icence var iat ion appl icat ions.) 

• The l icensing board must a lso contact the fo l lowing people with detai ls of the 
appl icat ion:

 - neighbours l iv ing with in 4 metres of the premises;
 - the local community counci l (s)  for the area; 
 - the counci l ; 
 -  the heal th board;
 - the pol ice;
 - the f i re author i ty.

Objections

• Anybody is able to object to appl icat ions for new premises or occasional 
l icences, and to ‘major ’  var iat ions of ex ist ing l icences. They do not need to l ive 
nearby the premises. 

• There are str ict  requirements about t imescales and the grounds for object ions 
(see ‘grounds for object ions.’ )  Object ions must be made in wr i t ing to the l icensing 
board. 

• Objectors can request a statement of reasons f rom the l icensing board for i ts 
decis ion. Objectors have 14 days to wr i te to the l icensing boards to ask for 
wri t ten reasons for the decis ion. The l icensing board should provide these 
reasons with in 14 days.

• Objectors can only appeal against the grant ing of an occasional l icence. They 
have no di rect r ight of appeal against the grant ing of new premises l icences, 
provis ional l icences or major var iat ions, though there is the possibi l i ty of judic ia l 
rev iew. Anyone consider ing th is route may wish to seek independent legal advice.  

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community24

Home

ALCOHOL LICENSING EXPLAINED



Offences 

• Licensing law creates a number of of fences. Some of these apply to 
indiv iduals, such as buying or dr ink ing alcohol when drunk in l icensed 
premises or buying alcohol for someone under the age of 18 ( there is 
a smal l  except ion with meals).  Other of fences apply to l icence holders, 
including sel l ing a lcohol to a drunk person or an underage person or 
fa i l ing to display cer ta in impor tant not ices.

Operating plan 

• The operat ing plan detai ls how the premises wi l l  run. This includes 
th ings l ike l icensed hours; whether i t ’s on- or of f-sales; i f  under 18s 
are a l lowed; and act iv i t ies the premises wi l l  run, for example  karaoke, 
funct ions, adul t  enter ta inment.

• The operat ing plan must be provided as par t  of a l icence appl icat ion 
and forms par t  of the premises l icence. I f  a l icence holder wishes to 
make changes to the operat ing plan, they must apply for a ‘ l icence 
var iat ion.’

Overprovision

• Overprovis ion is where the l icensing board determines there are 
enough/too many premises in a par t icular local i ty.

• As par t  of i ts statement of l icensing pol icy, a l icensing board has  
to include an assessment of whether there is any overprovis ion in 
i ts area.

• I t  is for the l icensing board to decide what a local i ty is.  Local i t ies can 
range f rom smal l  areas such as a street,  to larger areas such as towns 
or the whole local author i ty area. 

• The l icensing board can also speci fy the types of premises i t  considers 
to be overprovided in an area. For example, i t  could decide there are 
enough supermarkets or pubs in a par t icular area but that there is not 
overprovis ion of other types of premises such as restaurants or hotels.

Representations

• A representat ion can be made to the l icensing board to ei ther suppor t 
an appl icat ion or to ask the l icensing board to modify i t  in some 
way, for example l imi t  i ts opening hours. Anybody is able to make a 
representat ion to the l icensing board. 

• Making a representat ion is the same process as making an object ion.

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community25

Home

ALCOHOL LICENSING EXPLAINED



Statement of l icensing policy (also known as l icensing policy 
statement, l icensing policy, board policy)

• The statement of l icensing pol icy sets out the l icensing board’s general 
approach to making l icensing decis ions and how i t  wi l l  promote the 
f ive l icensing object ives. L icensing board decis ions should be in l ine 
with th is pol icy, a l though they can make except ions. 

• As par t  of the statement of l icensing pol icy, the l icensing board must 
include a statement of overprovis ion and should a lso include the hours 
that l icensed premises wi l l  be al lowed to sel l  a lcohol.

• The l icensing board must gather suf f ic ient informat ion to ensure i ts 
pol icy is wel l  considered. The pol ice, heal th board and re levant counci l 
must provide informat ion and i t  can be requested f rom anyone else. 
Ideal ly the statement of l icensing pol icy should take account of other 
local strategies where alcohol is a factor,  including cr ime prevent ion, 
community safety and heal th. 

• Current ly a l l  l icensing boards must update thei r  statement of l icensing 
pol icy every three years. Under new legis lat ion they wi l l  be required 
to produce these pol ic ies every 5 years, wi th in 18 months of local 
government e lect ions.  

You should f ind detai ls of the l icensing board, local l icensing forum and 
Licensing Standards Off icer on your local counci l ’s websi te. I t  would be 
helpfu l  to search using the terms such as ‘a lcohol l icensing,’  ‘ l iquor  
l icensing,’  ’ l icensing board,’  ‘L icensing Standards Off icer,’  and  
‘ l icensing forum’. 

Alternat ively, a l ist  of l icensing contacts can be found on Alcohol Focus 
Scot land’s websi te  www.alcohol-focus-scotland .org.uk

Useful  contacts

Alcohol Focus Scotland: Alcohol licensing in your community26

Home

ALCOHOL LICENSING EXPLAINED



Alcohol Focus Scotland, 166 Buchanan Street, Glasgow G1 2LW
Tel: 0141 572 6700

email: enquiries@alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk
www.alcohol-focus-scotland.org.uk

Follow us on Twitter@alcoholfocus

Alcohol Focus Scotland is a Registered Scottish Charity (SC009538)  
and a Company Limited by Guarantee (Scottish Company No.SC094096).



Page 167 Aqenda ltem 13

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL

CUSTOMER SERVICES

COUNCIL

2l APRIL 2016

LtcENStNG (SCOTLAND) 2005 - LOCAL LICENSING FORUM

1.0

1.1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report provides an update by the Licensing Board (the Board) on current
issues relating to the membership of the Local Licensing Forum (the Forum).

The report outlines proposals to review the range of businesses, agencies and
local groups participating in the Forum in order to optimise its effectiveness.

The recommendation of the report supports the development of a more diverse
membership for the Forum.

1.2

1?



Page 168

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL

CUSTOMER SERVICES

COUNCIL

2l APRTL 2016

LtcENStNG (SCOTLAND) 200s - LOCAL L|CENS|NG FORUM

z.z

2.5

2.0

2.1

3.0

3.1

4.O

4.1

INTRODUCTION

Section 10 of the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005, requires the Council to
establish a Local Licensing Forum. The Forum must consist of no more than
20 members, and should include one of the Council's Licensing Standards
Officers and a representative nominated by the Chief Constable of Police
Scotland; leaving a maximum of 18 places to be filled.

The role of the Forum is to keep under review the operation of the licensing
system in the area and to give advice and recommendations to the Board. The
Board has a duty to "have regard'to the Forum's views and must offer reasons
where it takes decisions against the advice of the Forum.

Argyll and Bute Council, at the meeting held on 22nd May 2012, agreed that the
Forum should be established with membership drawn from the licensed trade,
police, Licensing Standards Officer, persons involved in health, education or
social work functions, the Alcohol and Drug Action Team, local residents and
young people.

At their meeting on the th February 2016 the Board decided to present a report
to Argyll and Bute Council proposing a review of the recruitment to and
membership of the Forum.

RECOMMENDATION

To approve the proposal to refresh and extend the scope of Forum
membership as detailed in section 4.4 below.

REVIEW OF CURRENT ARRANGEMENTS

At the meeting on the 9th February 2016, the Board discussed the fact that
since its establishment in 2012, membership of the Forum had changed
considerably and that attendance at the meetings had gradually declined during
thal Deriod.

It was noted at this meeting however that attendance levels had increased
when important topics requiring input or action from the Forum had arisen e.g.
progressing consultation on overprovision.

At this meeting the Forum also discussed the potential composition of the
Forum and the methods that could potentially be used to attract new members
from a variety of organisations and business representatives operating with

2.4

4.2

4.3



Page 169

Argyll and Bute.

4.4 ln particular the Forum will take action to recruit members representing:-

. Each of the 4 decentralised areas of Argyll and Bute

. A broader range oftrade representatives e.g. hotels, off-sales

. Relevant council services e.g. education, social work

. Relevant officers from specific health service teams e.g. education

. The Scottish Children's Reporter Administration (Children's Hearings
system)

. Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drugs Partnership

. Additional Community Councils
o Relevant trade associations
. Local 'Pub Watch' groups
. Other relevant groups or agencies

5.0 coNcLUStoN

5.1 The current membership of the Forum should be reviewed to improve its
capacity to support the Board.

5.2 The proposals detailed at s4.4 above will assist in optimising the work of the
Forum.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Policy: no change

6.2 Financial: Members of the public serving on the Forum are paid travel and
subsistence rates in line with the rates paid to members of the public who sit
on similar Council operated Committees. In addition Forum members attend
the national training sessions, the cost of which is met by the Council.

6.3 Legal: within relevant statutory powers

6.4 HR: no addilional resource required

6.5 Equalities: no additional implications

6.6 Risk: will assist in reducing risk in that the capacity of the Forum support the
Board should improve

6.7 Customer Service: likely to improve in terms of broader scope of
reoresentation

Executive Director of Customer Services - Douglas Hendry
Policy Lead - Dick Walsh
6th April 2016
For further information contact - Susan MairTel: 01546 604117



Ir\0 uri0r L

That the Council -

r r(q-/tc
.a,.

1. Note the increased payments as detailed within the report.

2. Note that the arrears would be paid in the May pay run.

3. Do not agree a similar increase to the remuneration of senior councillors by 1%
tor 2016117 with effect from 1 April 2016 to be consistent with national decisions
on payments determined by statutory instrumenl.

Moved Councillor Sandy Taylor, seconded Councillor Richard Trail.

The requisite number of members present required the vote to be taken by calling
the roll and members voted as follows -
Motion Amendment
Councillor Rory Colville Councillor John Armour
Councillor Maurice Corry Councillor Gordon Blair
Councillor Robin Currie Councillor Michael Breslin
Councillor Mary-Jean Devon Councillor Vivien Dance
Councillor Donald Kelly Councillor George Freeman
Councillor David Kinniburgh Councillor Anne Horn
Councillor John McAlpine Councillor Neil Maclntyre
Councillor Roderick McCuish Councillor Bruce Marshall
Councillor Alistair MacDougall Councillor James Robb
Councillor Robert G Maclntyre Councillor lsobel Strong
Councillor Donald MacMillan Councillor Sandy Taylor
Councillor Alex McNaughton Councillor Richard Trail
Councillor James McQueen
Councillor Aileen Morton
Councillor Ellen Morton
Councillor Elaine Robertson
Councillor Len Scoullar
Councillor Dick Walsh

Decision

The Motion was carried by 18 votes to 12 and the Council resolved accordingly

(Reference: Report by Executive Director - Customer Services dated 23 March
2016. submitted)

Councillors James Robb and Sandy Taylor left the meeting at this point.

14. MEMBERSHIP OF THE LOCAL LICENSING FORUM

The Council considered a report updating them on current issues relating to the
membership of the Local Licensing Forum. The report outlined proposals to review
the range of businesses, agencies and local groups participating in the Forum in
order to ootimise its effectiveness.

Decision



15.

The Council approved the proposal to refresh and extend the scope of Forum
membership as detailed at section 4.4 of the submitted report.

(Reference. Report by Executive Director - Customer Services dated 6 April 2016,
submitted)

REVIEW OF CHARITABLE TRUSTS HELD BY ARGYLL & BUTE COUNCIL

A report advising the Council of the decision by the Office of Scottish Charity
Regulator (OSCR) to approve the proposal to transfer the funds held by the Norman
Stewart Institute Trust to For Bute was considered.

Decision

The Council gave final authorisation to approve the payment of the remaining funds
of the Norman Stewart Institute Trust (SC019601) to For Bute (SC044153) and to
then wind up the trust and remove it from the OSCR Register.

(Reference: Report by Executive Director - Customer Services dated 16 March
2016, submitted)

ROTHESAY COMMON GOOD FUND

The Council considered a report recommending a mechanism to enable the
Rothesay Common Good Fund to determine applications for grants where
attendance of all trustees of the Fund is not possible.

Decision

The Council agreed a delegation to the Executive Director - Customer Services to
determine in consultation with available Bute ward members, applications to the
Rothesay Common Good Fund on occasions where the aftendance of all lrustees of
the Fund at a scheduled or arranged meeting of the Fund is not possible.

(Reference: Report by Executive Director - Customer Services dated 21 January
2016, submitted)

Councillor Sandy Taylor returned to the meeting at this point. Councillor Michael
Breslin left the meeting at this point.

17. PERFORMANCE AND SCRUTINY REVIEW HANDBOOK (Pages 19 - 20)

At their meeting on 25 February 2016, the Performance Review and Scrutiny
Committee considered a report prepared by the Chief Internal Auditor which
provided a draft Performance Review and Scrutiny Handbook for approval. The
Committee approved the Handbook and agreed to submit the handbook to Council
for information.

Motion

. That the Council appreciates the work carried out by the PRS Committee and
their drafting of the Performance and Scrutiny Review Handbook.

16.





Extending Scope of LLF Membership

Assistance could be sought from the Council’s communications team to draft an advert / 
flier which could then be -

 posted on ABC website (as host for LLF)

 circulated via social media channels directly to relevant organisations / groups 
with social media presence (see list below*)

 offered as links to / from websites of partners (including NHS), trade 
organisations / groups, community websites, Dialogue Youth (Young Scot)

 used as basis for local radio adverts / bulletins / announcements

 discussed at Area Business Day / Community Planning Group meetings

 features in local newspapers

 arranging an ‘open’ LB meeting providing an opportunity for people to see the 
work of the Board with a view to participating in the LLF

 posters in community centres, libraries etc.

*Key groups, organisations – 

 A broader range of trade representatives e.g. hotels, off-sales
 Relevant council services e.g. education, social work
 Relevant officers from specific health service teams e.g. education
 The Scottish Children's Reporter Administration (Children's Hearings System)
 Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drugs Partnership
 Additional Community Councils 
 Relevant trade associations
 Local 'Pub Watch groups
 Other relevant groups or agencies

Examples of issues addressed by LLF - 

 local overprovision, in context of new statutory provisions
 increasing flexibility of licensing hours
 additional controls to curb excessive drinking e.g. at major events
 assessing impact of alcohol-related violence on the local A & E services

Draft advert – see over//



DRAFT ADVERT / FLIER

If you have views about the way alcohol is sold and the impact it has in your area the Argyll and Bute 
Licensing Forum would like to hear from you.  The Local Licensing Forum reviews the operation of the 
Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 and gives advice and makes recommendations to the Licensing Board.

The Forum is currently looking for new members to play an active role in shaping licensing policy in 
across the area.

We want to encourage enthusiastic, committed people; of all ages and backgrounds with an interest in 
licensing issues and how they impact on local communities.  No particular qualifications are required 
although the Forum is particularly keen to hear from young people and from those involved in the 
emergency services.

The Forum usually meets four times a year and provides a link between local residents and the Licensing 
Board, presenting ideas, making suggestions and contributing feedback for consideration by the Board in 
local decision making.

The closing date for applying to be a new member of the Licensing Forum is DATE 

For further information on the work of the Forum, or for an application form, contact; DETAILS


	Agenda
	2a Local Licensing Forum
	2b Joint Licensing Board and Local Licensing Forum
	3 NOTE OF MEETING
	4 ALCOHOL LICENSING IN YOUR COMMUNITY - HOW  YOU CAN GET INVOLVED
	5a Copy of Report submitted to the Council Meeting on 21 April 2016 with Extract of Minute
	5b Note on possible methods of attracting new Members

